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Bef ore GARWOOD, JONES and EMLIO M GARZA Circuit Judges.”
GARWOOD, Circuit Judge:

Appel l ant, Janmes Riley Cornett, Jr. (Cornett), was convicted
of one count of possession of photographs containing sexually
explicit conduct of mnors in violation of 18 US C 8§
2252(a)(4)(B), and one count of intentional interception of

el ectroni c communi cati on without proper authority in violation of

Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions that
have no precedential value and nerely decide particul ar cases on
the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes needl ess
expense on the public and burdens on the | egal profession.”
Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned that this opinion
shoul d not be publi shed.



18 U S.C. 8§ 2511(1)(a). The district court sentenced Cornett to a
term of inprisonnent of 120 nonths, a 3-year term of supervised
rel ease, and i nposed a $15,000 fine and a $100 speci al assessnent.

Cornett now appeal s his conviction.

Facts and Proceedi ngs Bel ow

On Sept enber 16, 1991, Detective Sergeant Donal d McDonal d, Jr.
(McDonal d), of the Orange, Texas Police Departnent, interviewed
A oria Turner (Turner) about an incident that occurred on July 28,
1991. On that date, Turner's ten-year-old daughter told her that
she had watched a "bad tape" that Cornett had given her the day
bef ore. Turner then recovered from her daughter's bedroom a
vi deocassette containing explicit scenes of sexual intercourse.
McDonal d then i ntervi ewed the ten-year-ol d daughter, her fourteen-
year-ol d sister, and their fourteen-year-old cousin. The children
stated that Cornett had invited theminto his residence where he
showed them a broadcast from what he identified as the Pl ayboy
Channel, and that he gave themthe sexually explicit videocassette.
The fourteen-year-old cousin also stated that Cornett asked her if
she liked the sexually explicit videocassette and told her that he
gave themthe tape because he thought they would like it.

On Septenber 18, 1991, MDonald was granted a search warrant
for Cornett's residence based on the information in his affidavit,
whi ch recounted his interviews and contained his opinion that child
pornography would be present at the house because, "Through
trai ning and experience | knowthat persons invol ved i n pornography

and pedophilia frequently maintain collections of pornographic



pi ctures, al buns, novies, recordings and furnish such itens to
potential victins in an attenpt to lower their inhibitions and gain
their confidence. Said persons spend years aquiring [sic]
collections and do not normally dispose of their collections for
any reason." That sane day a search pursuant to the warrant was
conducted of Cornett's residence, and itens seized included
ni net een photographs of wunclothed children and infants and an
altered satellite descranbler unit attached to Cornett's
t el evi si on.

On Cctober 16, 1991, Cornett was indicted on one count of
possessi on of photographs contai ning sexually explicit conduct of
mnors in violation of 18 U. S.C. § 2252(a)(4)(B), and one count of
intentional interception of el ectroni c comruni cati on w thout proper
authority in violation of 18 U S C 8§ 2511(1)(a). He was
subsequently tried on June 15 and 16, 1992. Cornett did not nake
a notion to suppress the evidence seized during the Septenber 18,
1991, search of his residence until during his trial when the
prosecution noved to admt into evidence the seized itenms. Only
then did he object and argue that such evidence should be
suppr essed. . FeED.. R CGRM P. 12(b)(3). He did not seek a
separate evidentiary hearing, but nerely argued that the search
warrant was issued on the basis of an affidavit that was
constitutionally insufficient on its face because the information
recited was too stale. The district court found that the affidavit
was sufficient.

Also during trial, Cornett's counsel attenpted to cross-

exam ne McDonald on certain matters, but the district court, on



four separate occasions, sustained the prosecution's objections.
Later, Cornett's counsel was cross-exam ning anot her w tness when
Cornett started | aughing. The prosecution then stated, "I' m goi ng
to ask that the record reflect the Defendant is |aughing, and |
woul d li ke to find out what's so anusi ng about this." The district
court then adnonished Cornett not to laugh during his trial.
Cornett's counsel objected to the prosecution's statenent as being
a coment on the defendant's right toremain silent. He asked the
district court toinstruct the jury to disregard the prosecution's
objection, which the district court granted, and requested a
mstrial, which the district court denied. Finally, the district
court admtted, over a hearsay objection, the prosecution's

phot ocopy exhi bits of portions of Webster's Third New I nternati onal

Dictionary containing the definitions of "lascivious" and "lewd."

Cornett was found guilty on both counts, and the district
court sentenced himto a termof inprisonnment of 120 nonths, a 3-

year term of supervised rel ease, and i nposed a $15,000 fine and a

$100 special assessnent. Cornett now appeals his conviction,
contending that the district court erred in: (1) admtting
evidence from the search; (2) limting cross-exam nation; (3)

denying his notion for a mstrial; and (4) overruling the hearsay

objection to the dictionary definitions of "lascivious" and "l ewd. "
Di scussi on

Search \arrant

Cornett first argues that the information fromthe affidavit

that served as the basis for the search warrant failed to



denonstrate sufficient probable cause for the search, and as a
result the district court erred in admtting into evidence the
items seized in the search. Cornett contends that the affidavit
| acked probabl e cause because it was based upon stale information
since the warrant was issued on Septenber 18, 1991, but it was
based upon events that had occurred around July 28, 1991.

Regardl ess of the existence of probable cause, evidence
obtained by law enforcenent officials acting in objectively
reasonabl e good-faith reliance upon a search warrant is adm ssi bl e
in the prosecution's case-in-chief. United States v. Leon, 104
S.Ct. 3405, 3420-21 (1984). Therefore, we need not reach the
constitutional issue whether there existed sufficient probable
cause if we find that the evidence could have been adm tted under
the Leon good-faith exception. United States v. Craig, 861 F.2d
818, 821 (5th Gr. 1988). W find that the evidence is adm ssible
under Leon.

"I ssuance of a warrant by a magistrate normally suffices to
establish good faith on the part of |aw enforcenent officers who
conduct a search pursuant to the warrant." Craig, 861 F.2d at 821.
However, good faith does not exist if the warrant is "based on an

affidavit 'so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render

official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable.'" Leon
104 S. . at 3421 (quoting Brown v. Illinois, 95 S. Ct. 2254, 2265-
66 (1975) (Powell, J., <concurring in part)). As in Craig,
Cornett's argunent is: "The facts alleged in the affidavit were so

dated that no reasonable officer could have believed that the

af fidavit established probable cause to search his hone." Craig,
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861 F.2d at 822. W disagree.
"Staleness is to be determ ned on the facts of each case.

[A] finding of stal eness or tineliness of information can depend
upon the nature of the unlawful activity, and when the information
of the affidavit clearly shows a | ong-standi ng, ongoi ng pattern of
crimnal activity, evenif fairly long periods of tine have | apsed
between the information and the issuance of the warrant, the
information need not be regarded as stale.™ United States v.
Webster, 734 F.2d 1048, 1056 (5th Gr. 1984). Here, the
information in the affidavit tended to indicate that Cornett had
been engaged i n pedophilia for sone tinme. Furthernore, "Courts are
nmore tolerant of dated allegations if the evidence sought is of the
sort that can reasonably be expected to be kept for | ong peri ods of
time in the place to be searched.” Craig, 861 F.2d at 823. In
this case, the affidavit provided indicia of probable cause when it
stated that persons involved in pornography and pedophilia tended
to keep for I ong periods of tinme extensive pornography coll ections.
Thi s observation supports the conclusion that the |ess than two-
mont h gap between receipt of the information and issuance of the
warrant was not critical.?

This case closely resenbles United States v. Rugh, 968 F.2d
750 (8th Cir. 1992), where a search warrant was upheld even though

it was issued sixteen nonths after the suspect had sent his |ast

. As to the absolute period of delay of approxinmately two
mont hs, "In conparison to other stal eness cases, the tine periods
i nvol ved here are | engthy, but not excessive." Craig, 861 F.2d

at 823 (citing to cases where the gap in tine between receipt of
informati on and i ssuance of a warrant exceeded seven or eight
nmont hs) .



letter indicating that child pornography would be present in his
residence. The warrant was upheld in part because "the officers
reasonably could have believed the material . . . would still be
present because pedophiles typically retain child pornography for
along tine." |d. at 753; see also United States v. Koelling, 992
F.2d 817 (8th Gr. 1993). W agree with this conclusion.
Furthernore, as in Rugh, the warrant in this case was not solely
based on generalized statenents concerning pedophiles but also on
children's accounts of Cornett's behavior towards them Therefore,
McDonal d "presented facts to support the conclusion that [Cornett]
fit the definition of pedophile.” ld. at 754.2 As a result
McDonald could have reasonably believed that Cornett "was a
pedophile and had retained child pornography for an extended
period." 1d. Therefore, the totality of the circunstances show
that there were sufficient facts to establish an objectively
reasonabl e and good-faith belief under Leon that the affidavit
adequat el y establ i shed probabl e cause existed so as to justify the
war r ant .

1. Cross-exam nation

Cornett argues that the district court erred inlimting his

2 In United States v. Wber, 923 F.2d 1338 (9th G r. 1990), it
was held that twenty-nonth-old information |inking the defendant
to the receipt of child pornography was too stale and coul d not
provi de probabl e cause for a search of the defendant's residence.
ld. at 1344-46. However, in that case, not only was the | apse in
time nmuch | onger than in the present case, but also the
informati on contained only generalized statenents about the

t endenci es of pedophiles. No evidence existed in that case,

unli ke here, that the targeted defendant had di spl ayed behavi or
indicating that there existed a reasonabl e suspicion that he was
a pedophile. Id.



counsel's cross-exam nation of MDonald on four occasions. In
reviewing such points of error, we are mndful that the
"[l]limtation of the scope and extent of cross-examnation is a
matter commtted to the sound discretion of the trial judge
reviewable only for a clear abuse of that discretion.” Uni ted
States v. Merida, 765 F.2d 1205, 1216 (5th Cir. 1985). The
district court retains a wide latitude to i npose reasonabl e cross-
exam nation limts concerning "anong other things, harassnent,
prejudice, confusion of the issues, the wtness' safety, or
interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant."
Del aware v. Van Arsdall, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 1435 (1986); United States
v. Barksdale-Contreras, 972 F.2d 111, 115 (5th Gr. 1992).
However, regardless of the district court's discretion to inpose
reasonable limts, "this Court is bound to determ ne whether the
trial court inposed unreasonable limts on cross exam nation such
that a reasonable jury mght have received a significantly
different inpression of a wtness' credibility had defense counsel
pursued his proposed |ine of cross exam nation." United States v.
Baresh, 790 F.2d 392, 400 (5th Cr. 1986).

The first incident occurred when Cornett's counsel was
questioning MDonald about the process for rating novies. The
district court, upon the prosecution's objection, disallowed this
Iine of questioning after McDonal d stated that he was not famliar
wth the subject. Cornett argues that the district court erred in
this instance because his counsel was trying to point out the
W tness's m sconceptions about the rating system However, once

the witness admtted that he was unfamliar with the rating system
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any further cross-examnation on this point would have been
irrelevant and repetitive. The district court did not abuse its
di scretion. See FED. R Evip. 403; United States v. Ellender, 947
F.2d 748, 761 (5th CGr. 1991).

Next, Cornett argues that the district court erred in denying
him the opportunity to cross-exam ne MDonald concerning his
under st andi ng of the term"sexually explicit conduct" as contai ned
in 18 U S.C. § 2252(a)(4)(B). The district court did allow sone
probing on this issue, until Cornett's counsel began questi oni ng
the wtness about the Texas definition of "deviant sexual
intercourse."” The Texas state definition of a termnot contained
in section 2252 was irrelevant, and such a line of questioning
contained the real possibility for jury confusion on what el enents
the prosecution had to prove. The district court clearly acted
wthin its discretion under Rule 403 in preventing Cornett from
asking the witness further questions on this matter. See United
States v. Duncan, 919 F.2d 981, 989 (5th G r. 1990), cert. denied,
111 S.C. 2036 (1991).

Cornett al so conplains that he was denied the opportunity to
question MDonal d about whet her probable cause existed to support
the search warrant. However, Cornett's counsel had al ready wai ved
an evidentiary hearing on this matter and had stipulated that the
determ nation for probable cause would be made fromonly the four
corners of the affidavit. Therefore, any questions concerning
matters outside of the affidavit were irrelevant. Al so, the issue
of probable cause is "not properly for determnation by the jury,

but rest[s] within the province of the trial judge." Burris v.



United States, 192 F.2d 253, 254 (5th Gr. 1951). |In Burris, this
Court ruled "that the legality of the search warrant and the
evi dence obtained as a result of its execution was a matter of |aw
for [the district court's] determ nation. It was therefore
entirely proper that the Court prohibit cross-exam nation of the
W t nesses upon this question when before the jury." Id. at 255.
The district court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to
al l ow such evidence before the jury.

Finally, Cornett contends that, in relation to the illega
interception charge, he should have been allowed to question
McDonal d about whet her Cornett had actually told MDonald that he
bought the satellite descranbler knowing that it was altered
McDonal d testified that Cornett said that he "know ngly bought it
altered.” Cornett's counsel then noted that McDonald did not use
the word "knowngly" in his report concerning Cornett's
conversation with him and asked MDonald which was the correct
ver si on. McDonald replied, "It's all one in the sane." The
district court then prohibited Cornett's counsel from asking
McDonal d again which version was correct. Apparently, Cornett's
counsel was trying to nmake the point that the word "know ngly" was
not used in MDonald' s report.

No reversible error is shown here. In the first place,
Cornett had access to the report and could have placed it in
evi dence and poi nted out the absence of the word "know ngly" to the
jury. Furthernore, it was irrel evant whet her Cornett purchased t he
device knowing that it was altered. A defendant has violated 18

US C 8 2511(1)(a) if he "intentionally intercepts, endeavors to
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i ntercept, or procures any other person to intercept or endeavor to
intercept, any wire, oral, or electronic communication.” I1d. A
violation occurs whenever a person intentionally intercepts
el ectroni c comuni cation, regardl ess of whether he knew that the
actual device used to intercept the comrunications was illegally
al tered when acquired. See also United States v. Lande, 968 F.2d
907, 909-10 (9th CGr. 1992) (holding that "[a] person who views
satellite tel evision programm ng by use of a nodified descranbl er
and a satellite dish '"intentionally intercepts' the satellite
television signal, . . . [and] no exception is 'specifically
provided' for the unauthorized viewng of scranbled satellite
tel evision signals").?3 Since Cornett was attenpting to ask a
gquestion that was repetitive and irrelevant, and the report was
avai lable, the district court did not abuse its discretion in
preventing him from pursuing this issue. See United States v.
Tansley, 986 F.2d 880, 886 (5th Cr. 1993) (upholding "[t]he
limtations by the court [where they] were nade after the
gquestioni ng becane redundant and argunentative and nost tines only
peripherally relevant™).
[11. Conmment on Defendant's Silence

Cornett contends that the district court should have granted
hima mstrial when the prosecution responded to his |aughter by
remarking, "I would like to find out what's so anusi ng about this."

Cornett argues that this was an inproper conmment on his right to

3 There are several exceptions to section 2511(1)(a)'s broad
prohibition. See 18 U S.C. § 2511(2). However, Cornett does not
contend that any of these exceptions even arguably apply to this
case.
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remain silent and as such violated his Fifth Arendnent privilege
agai nst self-incrimnation. Doyle v. Chio, 96 S.Ct. 2240 (1976).
Clains of this nature are subject to a two-part test. "A
prosecutor's or wtness's remarks constitute coment on a
defendant's silence if the manifest intent was to conment on the
defendant's silence, or if the character of the remark was such
that the jury would naturally and necessarily so construe the
remark." United States v. Carter, 953 F. 2d 1449, 1464 (5th Gr.),
cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 2980 (1992). This neans that the renmark
must either refer in an explicit manner to the defendant's right to
remain silent or the context nmust be such that the jury would
naturally and necessarily construe the remark to be such a comment.
Here, the prosecution's remark was not an explicit reference to
defendant's silence, but was a contenporaneous conment on the
defendant's in-court, vocal outburst. Furthernore, the jury would
understand this remark to reflect the prosecution's spontaneous
reaction to the defendant's inappropriate |aughter in open court.
A plain reading of the remark evidences neither a manifest intent
on the prosecution's part, nor a natural or necessary construction
on the jury's part, that the remark be construed as a coment on

defendant's failure to testify.* Therefore, the district court did

4 Cornett cites United States v. Robinson, 716 F.2d 1095 (6th
Cir. 1983), where he clains a simlar prosecutor's coment
resulted in reversal by the appellate court. However, that

deci sion was eventually reversed by the Suprenme Court, which held
that the prosecution, in sonme instances of fair response, nmay
explicitly refer to the defendant's silence. United States v.
Robi nson, 108 S. Ct. 864 (1988). |In any event, in Robinson, the
prosecutor remarked, during closing argunent, that the defendant
"coul d have taken the stand and explained it to you, anything he
wanted to." 716 F.2d at 1096. First, the comment at issue here
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not err in refusing to grant a mstrial.
V. Hearsay

Finally, Cornett argues that the district court erred in
admtting into evidence the dictionary definitions of "lascivious"
and "l ewd, " because such matter was i nadm ssi bl e hearsay. Cornett
did not present at trial his own definitions. Nor is he arguing
now, that in admtting the dictionary definitions, the district
court msdefined or failed to further define the ternms. Assum ng
that such matter is hearsay, Cornett has failed to show that these
definitions in any way prejudiced his case. W find "that no
substantial right of the defendant[] is affected, and therefore any
error is harmess error." United States v. Saenz, 747 F.2d 930,
945 (5th Gir. 1984); Fep. R Evip. 103(a)(1).

Concl usi on

Cornett has failed to denonstrate any reversible error.

Accordingly his conviction is

AFF| RMED.

was made during the prosecution's case-in-chief, so neither the
prosecution nor the jury knew whether Cornett woul d exercise his
Fifth Amendnent right to remain silent. Second, unlike Robinson,
the prosecution's remark in no way explicitly comented on the
defendant's failure to take the stand but was nerely a

spont aneous statenent in response to the defendant's own vocal
interjection.
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